FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/29/2022 2:29 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/29/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100893-7 NO. 81918-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAYMOND BUDD, an individual

Respondent,

v.

KAISER GYPSUM COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner.

APPELLANT KAISER GYPSUM COMPANY, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Shaw, WSBA #08788
Tyler J. Hermsen, WSBA #43665
WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS
PLLC
601 Union Street, Suite 4100
Seattle, WA 98101-2380
Ph: (206) 628-6600
Fx: (206) 628-6611

Attorneys for Petitioner Kaiser Gypsum Company, Inc.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Kaiser Gypsum Company, Inc. ("Kaiser"), Appellant in the Court of Appeals under Cause No. 81918-6-I and Defendant in the Superior Court for King County, Cause No. 19-2-14878-1.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS

Kaiser seeks review of the Division One published opinion *Budd v. Kaiser Gypsum Company, Inc.*, No. 81918-6-I filed February 22, 2022 (Appendix A). Kaiser moved for reconsideration pursuant to RAP 12.4, which Division One denied by Order filed March 30, 2022 (Appendix B).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Kaiser's objection to proceeding with trial when the jury selection process materially deviated from the requirements of RCW 2.36 *et seq.* and constitutional protections (Wash. Const. art. 1, §21).
- 2. Whether plaintiff failed to prove causation consistent with the decision in *Lockwood v. AC & S, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 235, 744 P.2d 605 (1987).
- 3. Whether plaintiff's use of a contested transcript trial testimony over Kaiser's objection conflicts with Supreme Court precedent concerning closing argument.
- 4. Whether plaintiff's use of evidence not previously seen by the jury in closing argument conflicts with Supreme Court precedent concerning closing argument.
- 5. Whether the trial court's refusal to allow Kaiser to admit relevant evidence historical marital discord and that Mr. Budd had sexually abused his daughter multiple times when she was a teenager to rebut his loss of enjoyment of life claims conflicts with Supreme Court precedent.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. The Parties and Claims Asserted

Petitioner Kaiser was a manufacturer of drywall and drywall accessory products, including joint compound—a product used to cover seams between drywall sheets—from

approximately 1954 to 1978 when it ceased operations. During the time frame relevant to this case, joint compound manufactured by Kaiser contained a small amount of Grade 7 chrysotile asbestos fiber as an added ingredient to the product formula.

Respondent Raymond Budd (DOB 1951) claims to have been exposed to Kaiser's joint compound between 1962 and early 1971 while employed at his uncle's construction company at locations in the Moses Lake, WA area. Mr. Budd was diagnosed with mesothelioma in 2019 and filed suit in naming several defendants, including Kaiser. (CP 1-5) He asserted claims sounding in negligence and common law products liability based upon allegations that Mr. Budd developed mesothelioma as a result of exposure to asbestos fibers stemming from the defendants' products and/or activities. *Id*.

2. Trial and Verdict

This action was the first jury trial commenced in King County Superior Court following COVID-19 related shutdowns.

Trial was conducted in a temporary courtroom at the Meydenbauer Center in Bellevue, WA. Voir dire began on August 12, 2020 and closing arguments were presented on September 1, 2020. The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff on all claims on September 3, 2020 and awarded \$366,000.00 in economic damages and \$13,060,00.00 in non-economic damages. (CP 11189-91)

3. Procurement of Venire

Kaiser challenged the jury selection procedure adopted by King County based on representations made by the trial court. (CP 7813-22; 7823-26) The trial court did not address Kaiser's objection until just before closing argument, which was later memorialized in written form a week later. (VRP 2174-77; CP 11337-40)

The challenge was prompted by statements made by the trial court during a pretrial hearing that occurred on August 7, 2020—three days before the trial date. The trial court informed the parties that over a thousand jury summonses were sent to

jurors that had already been summonsed in the past and were able to negotiate a deferral. (CP 11338) This was done because the trial court hoped that such "group will be more likely to say yes" to serve in an on-going public health emergency. Id. Of that group for which summonses were sent, King County had email addresses for only 183 panelists, and as the trial court explained "that effectively is our real group." *Id.* The trial court was under pressure to commence trial, noting "we don't have time, given where we are now, to go out and try to write them another letter and say, send us your email address or something", likely because King County was paying to rent the facility and no prior civil cases had gone to trial in several months. *Id.* Because of this, roughly 900 jurors that had already been pre-screened based on prior deferrals were summarily excluded from the process because King County did not have an email address for them. Of the 183 potential jurors for which King County Superior Court had email addresses, only 77 responded to the court's efforts to reach them. *Id.* That group of 77 was sent the questionnaire for the case and subsequently participated in voir dire.

However, before voir dire began, Kaiser objected to King County Superior Court's *ad hoc* jury procurement procedure that it employed in order to commence the first jury trial following the COVID-19 shutdowns, informing the court that the procedure described was substantially inconsistent with the statutory requirements listed in RCW 2.36 *et seq.*, (Appendix F) was therefore a material deviation from statutory safeguards, and prejudice to Kaiser's constitutional right to a random and impartial jury is therefore presumed. (CP 7813-22; 7823-26)

Kaiser requested that the trial be continued until King County Superior Court could adhere to statutory safeguards; however the trial court pressed on. The Order is silent as to any investigation by the trial court into exactly how King County Superior Court sourced the venire; this even after a party presented a legitimate challenge based on statements directly from the trial court itself. The trial court admitted that it did not

look into Kaiser's challenge with jury services. (VRP 2174) Instead, the order shows that the trial court relied on assumptions and beliefs that statutory safeguards were followed even though the Court believed that the entire venire consisted of prescreened jurors that had been deferred from prior service.

4. Evidence Relating to Proximate Cause

The focus of Plaintiff's evidence on causation, and the Court's consideration of the same when affirming the verdict, did not involve proof of a connection between Kaiser's product and Plaintiff's disease, rather, the evidence merely established a potential link between alleged chrysotile exposure generally and the development of mesothelioma. Evidence that mesothelioma has been linked to alleged chrysotile exposure, at some unspecified, level, is insufficient for a determination of liability against a defendant under Washington law; the testimony must establish that the particular *plaintiff* was exposed in a manner to the *defendant's product* to have *caused* the *plaintiff's* disease. Plaintiff produced neither epidemiological evidence nor

toxicological evidence that joint compound or the grade or type of chrysotile used in Kaiser's joint compound was a cause of mesothelioma in humans or animals, let alone in Plaintiff. Plaintiff did not produce the evidence necessary to establish a specific element of his negligence and products liability claims (causation). Therefore, all of his claims fail as a matter of law according to Supreme Court precedent.

5. Irregularities During Closing Argument

a. Improper use of transcript

An answer from one of Kaiser's expert witnesses, pulmonologist Dr. David Weill, to a question relating to causation was mistranscribed. Dr. Weill was asked whether there was epidemiological evidence demonstrating that Calidria chrysotile asbestos was associated with an increased risk of mesothelioma. Dr. Weill answered "no," yet the court reporter transcribed a "yes" answer. (VRP 1819) (CP 10974-77) A "yes" response would have been contrary to Kaiser's position at trial, Dr. Weill's prior testimony that very day, Dr. Weill's report, and

Dr. Weill's prior testimony on the same issue in other cases across the country. (CP 12017-32; 12033-175) Kaiser's counsel discovered the discrepancy shortly before closing argument in reviewing plaintiff's closing power point presentation that argued there was "no dispute" between the parties on causation. (VRP 2198-99; 2203) (CP 10913) Kaiser's counsel then raised the mistranscription issue with the court before closing arguments were presented. (VRP 2251-52; 2207)

The court did not limit the use of the incorrect transcript, thereby requiring Kaiser's counsel to implore the jury to rely on their notes and memories as opposed to Plaintiff's counsel's closing arguments and accompanying visual aids which represented a "yes" response that was not properly in the evidentiary record. (VRP 2253-54; 2282-83) In rebuttal closing, Plaintiff used the *actual transcript as a visual aid* and held up the transcript as indisputable evidence in a clear attempt to imply that Kaiser's counsel was trying to deceive jurors and to undermine Kaiser's causation evidence and arguments as well as its

counsel's credibility generally throughout trial. (CP 10948) (VRP 2242-43; 2296) The use of the transcript transformed Plaintiff's closing from argument to an improper evidentiary presentation based upon disputed trial testimony.

The next day, Dr. Weill filed a declaration attesting that he responded "no" to the question in dispute. (CP 11139-41) The parties later learned the court reporter had a back-up audio copy of the testimony and both parties filed motions to obtain it. (CP 11273-79; 11280-82; 11283-309; 11377-85; 11366-11675; 11676-77; 11726-28; 11729-38; 11790-92) All counsel listened to the audio file separately. The audio confirms that the answer was "no" based on Kaiser's counsel's review. (CP 11280-82; 11283-309; 15168-75) Plaintiff's fervor to obtain the file suddenly disappeared, abandoning his motion and opposing Kaiser's. The court granted Kaiser's motion to preserve the audio file, but denied its motion with respect to providing copies to the parties. (CP 11779-83) Kaiser went to great lengths to correct the record, but its efforts were denied by the trial court multiple times wherein the court chose to rely on Plaintiff's counsel's recollection of the exchange as opposed to the witness's own recollection, Kaiser's recollection, or the audio file itself. (CP 12017-32; 12176-89; 13151-58; 13740–43; 13883-98; 13899-4078; 15023-29; 15030-144; 15147-54; 15168-75; 15178-85; 15188-209; 15230-42) Nonetheless, the trial court allowed plaintiff's counsel to present the transcript to the jury during closing argument and hold it out to be uncontested evidence.

b. Improper Use of Exhibit

Kaiser filed a motion in limine seeking exclusion of post-exposure evidence. (CP 3837; 3869; 5557-75) The motion was denied. (CP 7839) Plaintiff presented evidence on causation and state of knowledge of asbestos hazards that post-dated Budd's claimed exposure to Kaiser's product. (Ex. 27, 39, 43, 45, 55) (CP 11151-54) (VRP 1086-88; 1051-52) However, the court allowed a portion of a NIOSH document which the jury had not

previously seen to be shown to the jury in closing argument over Kaiser's objection. (VRP 2252-55) (CP 10907)

The context in which CP 10907 was shown is important. During Kaiser's case in chief, a discussion was had with Dr. Finley regarding a memorandum that Dr. Stokinger, Chief Toxicologist for the US Public Health Service wrote in 1973¹ indicating that the OSHA Permitted Exposure Level ("PEL") for asbestos was not only protective, but also included a safety factor. (VRP 1920-25) (Ex. 1308) Dr. Stokinger's analysis was based on his review of a paper written by a Dr. Enterline. CP 10907 displayed an excerpt from a post-exposure NIOSH publication criticizing Enterline's conclusions. That document had never been shown to any witness or the jury, no foundation was laid for the document, and Kaiser had no opportunity to challenge the hearsay conclusions contained on the slide.

¹ After cessation of Mr. Budd's claimed exposure.

6. Sexual Battery and Marital Discord Evidence

Discovery revealed evidence of marital infidelity and Mr. Budd's conviction of sexual battery involving his own minor daughter. (CP 7804-12) The trial court ruled that Kaiser would not be permitted to introduce evidence of the conviction or evidence of historical marital problems, unless plaintiff "opened the door." *Id.* At trial, Mr. Budd's non-economic damages claim was substantially predicated upon his loss of enjoyment of life that related directly to Budd's claim that he was no longer able to enjoy biking and traveling with his wife and his abused daughter's son, painting an idyllic picture of familial relations.

Despite basing the claim on the anticipated loss of his relationship with his wife and the son of the daughter he abused, Kaiser was again barred at trial from presenting evidence to the jury of the prior conviction and marital issues. (VRP 1504-07). The jury ultimately awarded Mr. Budd \$13,060,000.00 in non-economic damages. (CP 11189-91)

B. Court of Appeals Decision

On February 22, 2022, Division I of the Court of Appeals handed down its published decision. *Budd v. Kaiser Gypsum Company, Inc.*, --Wn.2d--, 505 P.2d 120 (2022). (Appendix A) The Court affirmed the verdict.

With regard to Kaiser's challenge to jury selection, the Court impliedly found that the procedure employed by King County deviated from statutory requirements, but that King County "substantially complied with the statute" and therefore Kaiser had the burden to establish prejudice. *Id.* at ¶12-19.

With regard to proximate cause, the Court correctly noted that in asbestos-exposure based personal injury actions, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing a causal connection between the injury, the *product* and the manufacturer of that product. *Id.* at ¶41; *see also Lockwood v. AC & S, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 235, 245, 744 P.2d 605 (1987). The Court also correctly noted that the locus of Plaintiff's causation evidence (in the form of expert testimony from Dr. Holstein) did not focus on Kaiser's

product or its alleged link to plaintiff's injuries, rather, it concerned asbestos fiber generally: "Budd produced toxicological evidence that chrysotile causes mesothelioma." *Budd* at ¶45. Chrysotile asbestos was not on trial, Kaiser's products were on trial, and Supreme Court precedent requires a causal link to be established between the *product* and the *injury to plaintiff*. Generalities do not carry the burden. No connection was made, and the Court rejected binding Supreme Court precedent in *Lockwood*.

With regard to Plaintiff's counsel use of the disputed transcript in closing argument, the Court found that Budd's use of the transcript during closing did not have a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict, relying on a conclusion that it was Kaiser's counsel that brought the issue to the jury's attention and that jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *Id.* at ¶31.

With regard to Plaintiff's use of a NIOSH document during closing that had not been previously shown to the jury,

the Court concluded the trial court acted within its discretion, finding because the article had been admitted as an illustrative exhibit. The Court ignored that the purpose for which the undisclosed portions of the NIOSH treatise were shown to the jury were not "illustrative" in nature and constituted an improper evidentiary presentation during closing argument. *Id.* at ¶¶62-63.

Finally, with regard to evidence of Budd's past sexual abuse of his daughter and marital infidelity, the Court found that Plaintiff did not open the door to admission of such evidence. *Id.* at ¶¶53-58.

Kaiser moved for reconsideration of the Court's decision on several grounds; a request that was denied by order on March 30, 2022. (Appendix B)

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Multiple grounds exist in this case and Kaiser submits that review should be accepted pursuant to its arguments below.

A. Jury Procurement Materially Deviated From Statutory Procedure

A civil litigant's right to a jury trial is inviolate under Article 1, Sec. 21 of Washington's Constitution and is to be "jealously guarded by the courts." *Watkins v. Siler Logging Co.*, 9 Wn.2d 703, 710, 116 P.2d 315 (1941) (Appendix E). "Maintenance of the jury as a fact-finding body is of such importance and occupies so firm a place in our history and jurisprudence that any seeming curtailment of the right to a jury trial should be scrutinized with the utmost care." *Beacon Theatres, Inc. v. Westover*, 359 U.S. 500, 501, (1959) (*quoting*)

Dimick v. Schiedt, 293 U.S. 474, 486, (1935)). Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, the right of trial by jury "necessarily contemplates an impartial jury drawn from a *cross*-section of the community." U.S. Const. Amend. VI & XIV (Appendix C and D); *Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 328 U.S. 217, 220 (1946). Washington utilizes RCW 2.36 *et seq.* to meet this end. *See e.g.*, RCW 2.36.065. The statutory scheme places the onus on the trial court to "ensure continued random selection of the master jury list and jury panels..." in order to maintain the randomness and impartiality requirements. *Id.*

King County's procedure materially deviated from statutory requirements, thereby defeating the randomness requirement imposed by the statute. Jury summonses were sent to jurors that had previously negotiated a deferral. This was done because that group was "more likely to say yes". It was clear that King County was under pressure to commence trial. The jurors' "qualifications" for service included a prior deferral and jurors

that had not been summonsed previously or negotiated a prior deferral were summarily disqualified. Not having been called for service before or not negotiating a prior deferral is not a recognized disqualifier from service. RCW 2.36.070.

This source is not random under the definitions of RCW 2.36.010 as service was preconditioned on a past negotiated deferral. RCW 2.36.010(12) states that jurors must be selected from the "master jury list," and the master jury list shall be "randomly selected from the jury source list" which is "all registered voters for any county merged with a list of licensed drivers and identicard holders who reside in the county." RCW 2.36.010(10) (emphasis added).

Further, RCW 2.36.055 provides a procedure for an "emergency" if one even existed (Kaiser submits there was no emergency). In an emergency situation, the trial court is still required to use the most recent jury source list. RCW 2.36.055. That procedure was also not followed due to an apparent lack of coordination between jury services and the trial court. There was

no "random selection" from the "jury source list" consistent with the framework's definitions in a normal or emergency situation as the venire source was only a "list" of candidates that had negotiated a prior deferral.

The deviation was material. King County's methods substantially departed from statutory procedure in that the "master jury list" and "jury source list" were ignored and a substitute list manufactured by the County under pressure to commence this trial served as a replacement. Hundreds of thousands of otherwise eligible candidates were excluded based on criteria entirely absent from the statutory framework. When the selection process deviates from Washington statutes, Supreme Court precedent establishes that prejudice need not be shown because it is presumed and a new trial is warranted. *State* v. Tingdale, 117 Wn.2d 595, 603, 817 P.2d 850 (1991). Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3), review of this issue should be accepted.

B. Affirming the Causation Finding Conflicts with Lockwood.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's authoritative decision in *Lockwood v. AC & S, Inc.*, *infra*, and pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) review should be accepted.

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