# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/7/2022 1:37 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100893-7 Court of Appeals No. 81918-6-I King County Superior Court No. 19-2-14878-1 SEA

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **RAYMOND BUDD**

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

### KAISER GYPSUM COMPANY, INC.

Defendant/Appellant.

### PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT RAYMOND BUDD'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alexandra B. Caggiano, WSBA No. 47862 Brian D. Weinstein, WSBA No. 24497 WEINSTEIN CAGGIANO PLLC 600 University Street, Suite 1620 Seattle, Washington 98101 Phone: (206) 508-7070

Fax: (206) 237-8650

Counsel for Plaintiff/Respondent

###

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

While the jury selection statutes mandate that members of a jury panel be randomly selected (*Budd*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 64) (citing *Brady v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 71 Wn. App. 280, 282 (1993)), "the statutory requirements for making up the jury lists are merely directory and need be only substantially complied

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Pet. at 17–20. Whether the trial court met the requirements of a statute does not fall within RAP 13.4 to warrant this Court's review.

with." *Id.* at 65 (quoting *City of Tukwila v. Garrett*, 165 Wn.2d 152, 159 (2008)); RCW 2.36.065). "Prejudice will be presumed only if there is a *material* departure from the statutory requirements. . . . If there is substantial compliance with the statute, then a challenger may claim error only if he or she establishes actual prejudice." *City of Tukwila*, 165 Wn.2d at 161 (alteration in original) (citations omitted); *see also W.E. Roche Fruit Co. v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 18 Wn.2d 484, 488 (1943); *State v. Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d 595, 600 (1991).

The purpose of all these statutes is to provide a fair and impartial jury, and if that end has been attained and the litigant has had the benefit of such a jury, it ought not to be held that the whole proceeding must be annulled because of some slight irregularity that has had no effect upon the purpose to be effected.<sup>8</sup>

As Division One correctly determined, the purpose of ensuring a fair and impartial jury inherent to *Roche* was met in this case. *Budd*, 21 Wn. App. at 67. King County Superior Court mailed summonses to over 1,000 jurors. VRP 2174–77, CP 11337–40. Only 183 responded, all of whom were sent a questionnaire to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Budd*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 65 (quoting *Roche*, 18 Wn.2d at 487–88) (holding that the inclusion of women who solicited serving on the jury did not violate Washington's selection procedures).

complete. VRP 2174:1–77:5. Of those 183, 89 responded to the questionnaire. *Id.* Every one of those 89 were then placed on the jury list in the random order in which their responses were received. Unlike the circumstances in *Brady* and *Tingdale*, in this case, no prospective juror in the *panel* was excluded by the County, clerk, judicial assistant, or even judge. No juror in the panel was excused until the attorneys began voir dire. 10

The fact that the summoned jurors may have previously deferred service has no bearing on whether Kaiser received an unbiased trial. It stands to reason that anyone who had previously deferred *had* been randomly selected from the Master Jury List detailed in RCW 2.36.055. Moreover, there is no case law or constitutional right that guarantees Kaiser any certain mix of jurors in a jury pool who have or have not deferred jury service. *Budd*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 67.

0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.* Notably, Kaiser offers no evidence that "Hundreds of thousands of otherwise eligible candidates were excluded" by the court. Pet. at 20. Regardless, this is not the test for ensuring randomness and no authority says it could or should be.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Both *Brady* and *Tingdale* involved cases where prospective jurors who already made it onto the jury panel were summarily excluded by people not the trial judge before jury selection began. *Brady*, 171 Wn. App. at 281–82; *Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d at 597–99.

Such a rule would be untenable in its application. For example, pre-Covid, jury selection commonly involved a certain number of jurors who show up for one trial, and after being dismissed from one venire, these "leftovers" are directed to another. What's more, there is always some number of jurors who do not show up to any given jury pool. The County does not send a sheriff to force everyone's appearance because the whole system would quickly break down. Under Kaiser's theory, both of these examples—which routinely occur in jury selection—materially deviate from the randomness contemplated by *Roche* and RCW 2.36.065. Such a position would have the effect of grinding jury trials to a halt.

Finally, Kaiser does not cite any authority to support its conclusory statements that the procedure materially deviated from Washington's statutes or Supreme Court precedent such as to destroy "randomness" as contemplated by RCW 2.36.065. <sup>11</sup> Kaiser does not make any showing regarding what the King County Superior Court's usual procedure is from which it alleges

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Pet. at 18–20. Division One noted Kaiser's lack of authority in its opinion. *Budd*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 66–67.

the trial court materially deviated. *See id.* Nor does Kaiser even try to point to any prejudice. *See id.* Its unsupported arguments do not warrant review with this Court.

### B. Division One's Causation Decision is Entirely Consistent with *Lockwood*.

Division One did cite *Lockwood* in its causation analysis<sup>12</sup> but focused on an argument regarding epidemiological and toxicological evidence because that was *Kaiser's* argument to the lower courts.<sup>13</sup> The reason Kaiser focused on epidemiology is because the evidence of the *Lockwood* factors during trial—including proximity, duration, frequency, nature of use, asbestos content, and effects of asbestos in general and on Plaintiff—was so overwhelming it would have been ridiculous for Kaiser to assert the factors had not been evidenced.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 21 Wn. App. 2d at 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Kaiser focused its argument on epidemiology in its motion for directed verdict during trial (VRP 1510–15); motion for dismissal after trial (CP 11988–12016); and opening and reply briefs to Division One, filed June 1, 2021, and September 14, 2021, respectively (Opening brief at 19–20, Reply brief at 17–20). Arguments not raised below generally will not be considered on appeal. *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc.*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 853 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Lockwood shows the burden on these factors is quite low. 109 Wn.2d at 240–47. In Lockwood, the plaintiff did not testify about even being near the defendant's product. *Id.* Instead, witnesses testified that the defendant's product was used in the shipyard generally, including some vessels where Lockwood worked; and an expert testified that asbestos fibers can drift throughout the shipyard. *Id.* Yet this was sufficient to uphold the jury

Plaintiff used only Kaiser's asbestos-containing joint compound for ten years. VRP 1361–66, 1376–79, 949–56. He discussed the large amounts of dust it created when mixing, sanding, and sweeping it. *Id.* Dr. Holstein testified that these exposures created considerable amounts of dust that Plaintiff breathed and that caused his mesothelioma. VRP 949–56, 1120–27, 1303–06. He opined that these cumulative exposures were not just a substantial factor in causing his mesothelioma but *the* cause of his mesothelioma. VRP 1120–27, 1317–18. Understandably then, Kaiser did not raise this lackluster argument about the *Lockwood* factors with the trial court, who had heard this extensive evidence during trial.

Kaiser interprets *Lockwood* to require plaintiff to show statistical evidence *for a particular product* as the only means to establish causation for a particular plaintiff's disease. Kaiser's interpretation is much more stringent than what this Court held:

In addition [to the other *Lockwood* factors], trial courts must consider the evidence presented as to medical causation of the plaintiff's particular disease. Such evidence would include expert

verdict in favor of *Lockwood*. *Id.* at 246–47. Plaintiff's evidence presented here is much stronger. *Supra*, Section III.B(1).

testimony on the effects of inhalation of asbestos on human health in general and on the plaintiff in particular. It would also include evidence of any other substances that could have contributed to the plaintiff's disease, and expert testimony as to the combined effects of exposure to all possible sources of the disease.

Lockwood, 109 Wn.2d at 248–49. Moreover, Kaiser's reading conflicts with this Court's other decisions: Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300, 309 (1995) ("We do not find that lack of statistical support fatal to Dr. Fallat's causation opinion. Such support is required neither by ER 702, 703, nor by our case law."); Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 610 (2011) (same) (citing Reese, 128 Wn.2d at 305)).

Division One correctly determined that the trial court did not abuse its direction regarding the medical causation issue. Dr. Holstein testified for three days about the abundant scientific research that supports his opinion that all types of asbestos fibers—including the chrysotile asbestos fibers Kaiser used in its joint compound—cause mesothelioma, and that Plaintiff's exposures to Kaiser's asbestos-containing joint compound caused his mesothelioma. *E.g.*, VRP 804–05, 938–56, 1032–38,

1093–1101, 1289–97. Such a showing is consistent with this Court's decisions in *Lockwood*, *Reese*, and *Anderson*.

### C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion During Closing Statements.

1. No New Evidence was Presented Because the Transcript was Correctly Transcribed.

In its petition, Kaiser argues in effect that the trial court abused its discretion by overruling Kaiser's objections during closing, ignoring most of Division One's extensive analysis. Pet. at 23–28; *cf. Budd*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 69–72, 85–88. None of the cases that Kaiser cites in its petition conflict with Division One's decision.

Kaiser cites *State v. Rose*, 62 Wn.2d 309, 312 (1963), for the proposition that attorneys cannot make prejudicial statements not sustained by the record. Pet. at 23–24. Kaiser bases this argument on the false premise that the transcript was incorrectly transcribed. The record shows the opposite is true: The trial court entertained several post-trial motions and two extensive evidentiary hearings at Kaiser's request. The court repeatedly

determined that the transcript was *correctly transcribed*<sup>15</sup>—thus, the closing argument *was* sustained by the record. The trial court's decision does not conflict with *Rose*'s holding.

Likewise, Carnation Co., Inc. v. Hill, 115 Wn.2d 184, 186 (1990) and De Lor v. Symons, 93 Wn. 231, 232–233 (1916) do not conflict with Division One's decision. In Carnation, Carnation requested a new trial, claiming, in part, that Hill's counsel improperly argued facts outside the record during closing. 115 Wn.2d at 186. This Court determined that there was no reversible error because the attorney's remark was isolated, the judge gave a curative instruction, and Carnation did not show a substantial likelihood that the remark affected the verdict. *Id*. Similarly in *De Lor*, although the Washington Supreme Court determined that counsel for respondents made statements to the jury outside the record, there was no reversible error because the judge instructed the jury to disregard statements not supported by the evidence and the statements were not of such a character to prejudice the jury against appellants. 93 Wn. at 232–33. As discussed above, the transcript showed in closing has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 13090–92, 13740–43, 13744–46, 15230–42, Appendix G\_006–7.

demonstrated ad nauseam to correctly reflect the record, so *Carnation* and *De Lor* are inapplicable as a threshold matter.

Assuming *arguendo* there was misconduct, Division One addressed and rejected Kaiser's argument regarding Carnation, noting (1) Kaiser brought the issue to the jury's attention during closing arguments and encouraged the jury to refer to its notes; (2) the judge's instruction that lawyers' comments during closing are not evidence (as was done in De Lor); (3) "jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions"; and (4) other evidence linked Plaintiff's mesothelioma to chrysotile exposure. Budd, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 72 (quoting Coogan, 197 Wn.2d at 807)). Division One correctly determined that Plaintiff's use of the transcript during closing did not have a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. This is consistent with Rose, Carnation and De Lor.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Allowing Plaintiff to Show a Previously-Admitted Illustrative Exhibit.

Kaiser has no support for its assertion that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing any part of a previously admitted illustrative exhibit to be used in closing. *State v. Lord*,

117 Wn.2d 829, 855 (1991) holds that a "trial court is given wide latitude in determining whether or not to admit illustrative evidence."

Division One addressed Kaiser's argument that illustrative exhibits must be admitted in connection with the testimony of a witness, citing King County v. Farr, 7 Wn. App. 600, 612–13 (1972). Budd, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 86. The critical distinction, as Division One noted, is that Farr addressed the necessity of testimony to establish the accuracy of a map before it could be admitted as an illustrative exhibit. Id. The exhibit here was a NIOSH document, not a map whose accuracy was questioned. Id. The PowerPoint containing the slide in question was previously introduced and admitted with witness testimony. VRP 2254. Dr. Holstein had testified earlier that he relies in part upon NIOSH's recommendations in forming his own opinions and that he considers them to be reliable and authoritative sources. VRP 1077–78.

The *Carnation* and *De Lor* cases that Kaiser again cites for support are likewise inapposite here for the same reasons above.

In contrast with *Carnation* and *De Lor*, Plaintiff showed a

portion of a previously-admitted illustrative exhibit, not evidence that the court ruled inadmissible. VRP 2254–55. Division One's decision does not conflict with these cases. Even assuming Division One erred, this issue does not warrant review because Kaiser has not even attempted to show that the alleged misconduct had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. *Carnation*, 115 Wn.2d at 186; *cf.* Pet. at 26–28.

### D. The trial court was within its broad discretion to preclude the prejudicial challenged evidence.

Though Kaiser cites the general proposition that "there is a presumption in favor of admitting relevant evidence" (Pet. at 29), Kaiser fails to cite to any Washington appellate decisions with which the *Budd* decision purportedly conflicts pursuant to RAP 13.4. Kaiser has no authority that demonstrates the trial court abused its discretion on this issue such that "*no reasonable person* would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Coogan*, 197 Wn.2d at 804 (emphasis added). To the contrary, this Court has determined that evidence of prior sexual conduct *does have* 

the potential to be so unduly prejudicial as to warrant exclusion at trial. 16

Kaiser cited both *Salas* and *Carson* on this argument. Pet. at 29. Division One also cited those cases in rejecting Kaiser's argument. Budd, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 82–84. Division One aptly noted that the evidence of sexual battery and marital discord "is 'likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision." Id. at 82 (quoting Gerlach, 196 Wn.2d 111, 120 (2000) (quoting Salas, 168 Wn.2d at 671)). Plaintiff's evidence focused solely "on what he enjoyed doing before his illness and what he could no longer do." Budd, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 83. Plaintiff did not elicit any evidence that Plaintiff's family lost something because of his injury, so it was not probative to that point. Division One correctly determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion given these circumstances.

Moreover, Kaiser's assignment of error is predicated entirely on its wishful thinking, not on evidence. Throughout the course of this appeal, Kaiser has based its arguments that it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Kirk v. Washington State University, 109 Wn.2d 448 (1987) (citing In re Air Crash Disaster at New Orleans, LA, 795 F.2d 1230 (5th Cir. 1986)).

should have been allowed to introduce evidence of Plaintiff's prior bad acts because "perhaps" it "may have impacted his 'enjoyment of life." E.g., Pet. at 29 (emphasis added). Yet Kaiser's argument lacks any evidence that it did impact Plaintiff's enjoyment of life. Even though Kaiser had the opportunity to depose Plaintiff and ask him questions during a deposition dedicated solely to these issues, it did not. CP 889–95. Instead, Kaiser can only speculate that these decades-old events "may have" affected Plaintiff's enjoyment of life since his mesothelioma diagnosis.

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.